IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WILLE

JUL 2 1984

CLERK, SUFTEINE COURT

JACOB JOHN DOUGAN, JR. :

Appellant :

-vs-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

CASE NO. 65,217

Appellee :

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Joseph M. Nursey COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

P.O. Box 1978 Atlanta, Georgia 30301 (404) 688-8116

Preliminary Statement

The Appellant, Jacob Dougan, will be referred to herein by name or as "Appellant". The Appellee, State of Florida, will be referred to herein as the "State".

The Records on Appeal and transcripts of Appellant's trial in 1975 and 1979 resentencing hearing are contained in this Court in the file of Appellant's original appeal styled <u>Barclay & Dougan v. State</u>, No. 47,260. That record, insofar as it relates to Jacob Dougan, is incorporated by reference.

References to the Record on Appeal of Appellant's trial will be designated "RT"; references to the transcripts of the guilt/innocence phase of Appellant's trial will be designated "T Trial"; references to the transcript of the penalty phase of trial will be designated "T Trial Penalty Phase"; references to the six (6) volume Record on Appeal of Appellant's <u>Gardner</u> resentencing hearing will be designated "RG" followed by the appropriate volume number; references to the transcript of the motion to suppress evidence held in the trial court on November 8, 1974 will be designated "TMS"; references to the Presentence Investigation Report of Appellant will be designated "P.S.I.".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Jacob John Dougan, Jr., was convicted of first degree murder and sentenced to death in the Circuit Court, Fourth Judicial Circuit, Duval County. On direct appeal, the judgment and sentence were affirmed by this Court. Barclay & Dougan v. State, 343 So.2d 1266 (Fla. 1977). Subsequently, this Court vacated Appellant's death sentence and remanded the case to the trial court for a Gardner resentencing proceeding. Barclay & Dougan v. State, 362 So.2d 657 (Fla. 1979).

On remand, the trial court resentenced Appellant to death; this Court affirmed Dougan v. State, 398 So.2d 439 (Fla. 1981).

On March 1, 1982, Appellant filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus with this Court alleging, among other things, that he was denied the effective assistance of counsel on direct appeal to this Court. This Court held that Appellant was indeed denied the effective assistance of counsel on direct appeal and ordered that Appellant be granted a new direct appeal. <u>Dougan v.</u> Wainwright, 448 So.2d 1005 (Fla. 1984).

It is from that order of this Court that this appeal ensues.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 17, 1974, the body of Stephen Orlando, a young white person, was found off a dirt road near the beach in St. Johns County, Florida. (T Trial 169). Stephen Orlando had died from a bullet wound to the head. (T Trial 133). A note was found on Mr. Orlando's body containing statements concerning the oppression of black persons and stating that "the revolution" had begun. (T Trial 317-324).

The State's version of the facts surrounding Mr. Orlando's death were provided by a codefendant, William Hearn, who testified under a deal for leniency. Hearn ultimately received a sentence of fifteen (15) years on a plea of guilty to second degree murder.

Under the State's version of the facts, as supplied by Hearn, on June 16, 1974, Appellant met with Hearn and three other persons, Elwood Barclay, Dwyne Crittendon and Brad Evans on a basketball court in Jacksonville (T Trial 1352-1353). Later that evening they met again at Elwood Barclay's home (T Trial 1356).

All five then rode in Hearn's car with Hearn driving. After a couple of hours of driving in Jacksonville, they began driving towards Jacksonville Beach.

At Jacksonville Beach they picked up Stephen Orlando who was hitchhiking. (T Trial 1369-1370). On the pretense of driving Mr. Orlando to get some drugs, they drove to a dirt road near the beach.

When the car was stopped, Mr. Orlando was told to get out of the car. Almost immediately thereafter, he was knocked to the ground. Elwood Barclay started to stab Mr. Orlando and Appellant shot him in the head with a .22 caliber pistol, killing him instantly. (T Trial 1372-1386).

Appellant and Barclay were found guilty of first degree murder; Evans and Crittendon were found guilty of second degree murder.

At the penalty phase of trial, Jacob Dougan's counsel presented four witnesses essentially testified who that Jacob Dougan had a good reputation for truth and veracity in the community (T There was Trial Penalty Phase 58-71). additional evidence in mitigation that Jacob Dougan was an outstanding high school student, an honor student, altar boy at St. Pius Church, an Eagle Scout, a member of the high school year book staff, student council and band. (T Trial Penalty Phase at 59; P.S.I. at p. 4). Jacob Dougan honorably served in the military (P.S.I. at p.5). Jacob Dougan served on the community Board of Directors with the Neighborhood Services Center, working for the community. (T Trial Penalty Phase at 65).

At Jacob Dougan's <u>Gardner</u> resentencing hearing, the State presented no additional evidence, relying on that evidence previously presented at trial.

Twenty-six (26) witnesses testified on behalf of Jacob Dougan at his resentencing hearing. Among these twenty-six witnesses were two attorneys and members of the Bar of this Court, the

Executive Director of the Northeast Florida Community Action Agency, an administrator and planner for the Jacksonville area Agency on the Aging, the Staff Director of Jacksonville's Neighborhood Resource Center, a grant writer with the Greater Jacksonville Consultants, Inc., the President of the Jacksonville branch of the N.A.A.C.P., a correctional counselor with the State of Florida Department of Corrections, a high school principal, a Duval County school teacher, a program developer for Florida Junior College and other civic minded members of the Jacksonville community (RG Vol. III 14, 31, 40, 47 89, 96, 107, 139; RG Vol. IV 58, 63, 95, 139, 140).

The testimony of these witnesses outlined Jacob Dougan's life from his high school days to the present, showing the overwhelming positive contributions made by Jacob Dougan to the Jacksonville community.

Jacob Dougan attended a segregated high school in Jacksonville; at his high school, he was a student leader and member of the student council. He was also an active participant in the Boy Scouts, earning the coveted rank of Eagle Scout; he displayed all of those positive character traits expected of an Eagle Scout (RG Vol. III 139, 140; RG Vol. IV 79, 96, 98).

After high school, Jacob Dougan briefly attended college at Florida A & M University in Tallahassee; he then joined the United States Air Force where he served his country in the Vietnam War (RG Vol. III 127, 130).

After he returned from the service in the late 1960's, until his arrest in this case in 1974, Jacob Dougan contributed a large portion of his time to numerous social programs in the Jacksonville area.

Jacob Dougan was actively involved in directing the Meals on Wheels program, a program set up to provide free hot meals to the low-income elderly and disabled persons of his community. Appellant personally went to groceries and other business in the community to solicit donations of food and clothing for the poor people served by the program; he personally assisted in serving the meals. When an elderly or disabled person served by the Meals on Wheels program was without transportation to reach the place where the food and clothing was distributed, Jacob Dougan would personally arrange for transportation for that person (RG Vol. III 15, 31, 52, 65, 76, 121, 122, 128; RG Vol. IV 122).

Jacob Dougan was also an active participant in the Senior Protection Program, a program established to check with the senior citizens of the neighborhood daily to see that they were okay and were receiving the basic necessities of life (RG Vol. III 110).

He was actively involved in obtaining adequate health care for the low-income people of the Jacksonville community. He personally recruited volunteer doctors and nurses to provide free health care services at the Neighborhood Health Center on Jacksonville's Eastside (RG Vol. III 49-50).

He was one of the founders of the Sickle Cell Anemia Detection Program which was involved in providing screening and medical treatment services as well as community education concerning this dangerous disease. Appellant was actively involved both in securing volunteer doctors and nurses for the medical services provided by the program and with the community education aspect (RG Vol. III 32, 48, 49, 50, 63, 75).

Jacob Dougan was a member of the board of directors of the Neighborhood Services Program on Jacksonville's Eastside. This was a federally funded program established to assist in running social services programs on a neighborhood level. As a member of the board of directors, Appellant was actively involved with the social services programs in his community. He was elected to the board of directors by the black and white citizens of the community (RG Vol. III 40, 42, 54, 90, 97; RG Vol IV 64, 140).

Appellant made a positive contribution to the lives of children and young people in the Jacksonville area. He worked as a coach for Little League teams in the community. He was actively involved with the Sheriff's Department Youth Program which was established to promote a better relationship between young people and the law enforcement agencies in Jacksonville. He helped recruit children for the local Head Start program. He donated money to sponsor children so they could attend the Young Life Christian organization summer camps; he always contributed to help the most needy child. He helped to take children on educational field trips (e.g., trips to the newspaper, food

processing plant, etc.). He assisted the director of the Drug Alternative Center with his program. (RG Vol. III 63, 64, 77, 78, 92, 98, 119, 121, 135, 136, 137; RG Vol. IV 141, 142).

Jacob Dougan helped low-income kids seek out grants and scholarships for college. At Christmas time, he helped collect toys for Christmas presents for poor children (RG Vol. III 53, 127).

Jacob Dougan was also involved in various other community programs such as Walnut House, a halfway house for paroled prisoners, the ex-offenders program, urban renewal committee, etc. (RG Vol. III 31, 40, 63, 75, 91; RG Vol. IV 65, 66, 122, 141).

Jacob Dougan was never paid for any of his contributions to the community. These programs benefitted both the black and white citizens of the community; Jacob Dougan always worked as a partner with the black and white people of the community and was respected by both. (RG Vol. III 17, 35, 42, 54, 66, 78, 98, 100, 110; RG Vol. IV 141, 142).

Since his conviction, Appellant has been an excellent prisoner on death row. He interacts well with both guards and other prisoners, black people and white people. He helps write letters for illiterate death row prisoners (RG Vol. IV 58-61).

As Appellant's death row counselor testified:

"Well, I thought [Appellant] was a very good [inmate] because in the prison system you don't have a person for every man that's incarcerated and a lot of times those people that are incarcerated, some help out on various --in various situations and [Appellant] was one of those that did. He showed -- had a leadership role and it was a positive one." (RG Vol. IV 60).

I.

APPELLANT'S DEATH SENTENCE WAS IMPOSED IN VIOLATION OF THE PROVISIONS OF FLA. STAT. ARBITRARY §921.141, IMPOSED INANCAPRICIOUS MANNER AND DEPRIVED APPELLANT DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION OF LAW AS GUARANTEED BY FLA. CONST. ART. I, SECS. 2, 9 THEEIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH 17 AND AND AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

A. Appellant's death sentence must be reversed because aggravating circumstances were erroneously applied

1. Fla. Stat. §921.141(5)(a) is inapplicable to Appellant

Jacob Dougan was not "under sentence of imprisonment" at the time of the alleged commission of the capital felony. Nevertheless, the trial court found this aggravating circumstance applicable stating, "[t]he two criminal contempt convictions of the defendant, Dougan, are aggravating circumstances . . ." (RT 235-236). The trial court repeated this finding in its resentencing order after Jacob Dougan's <u>Gardner</u> resentencing hearing (RG Vol. I at 145).

The capital felony for which Jacob Dougan was convicted occurred in 1974; Jacob Dougan's one (1) day sentence for contempt was served completely in 1971 (PSI at p. 4); this was the only time Jacob Dougan had ever been incarcerated prior to his arrest in this case.

This Court has limited the application of <u>Fla. Stat.</u> \$921.141 (5)(a) to persons in fact imprisoned at the time of the offense charged, persons on parole, Aldridge v. State, 351 So.2d

942 (Fla. 1977), persons on weekend furlough, <u>Darden v. State</u>, 329 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1976) and to escapees, <u>Adams v. State</u>, 341 So.2d 765 (Fla. 1977). This aggravating circumstance either facially or as applied is in no way applicable to persons without any restraint on liberty at the time of the offense charged.

Jacob Dougan was not under sentence of imprisonment either at the time of the crime's alleged commission or at the time of sentencing in this case; he was not an escapee; he was not on probation, parole or furlough. Simply stated, "[h]e was not confined in prison at the time [of the offense], nor was he supposed to be." Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 631, 636 (Fla. 1982). The evidence was not only insufficient to sustain this aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt, the evidence was wholly non-existent. No rational trier of fact could find the aggravating circumstance proven beyond a reasonable doubt. 1

This improper consideration of a non-statutory aggravating circumstance alone is grounds for reversal of Appellant's sentence of death:

The imposition of this non-statutory aggravating circumstance indicates that the weighing process dictated by statute was not followed . . .

There was no evidence of Appellant's contempt of court citations introduced at Appellant's trial; the sole reference in the record to the contempt citations is contained in the Presentence Report. (PSI Since at 4). aggravating p. circumstances must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt and cannot be based solely on information contained in the presentence report, even if Appellant's contempt citations could be used as aggravating circumstances, the proof beyond a reasonable doubt standard was not met. Williams v. State, 386 So.2d 538, 542-543 (Fla. 1980).

It is not the function of this court to cull through what has been listed as aggravating and mitigating circumstances in the trial court's order, determine which are proper for consideration and which are not, and then impose the proper sentence." Mikenas v. State, 367 So.2d 606, 610 (Fla. 1979).

See Elledge v. State, 346 So.2d 998 (Fla. 1977).

As this Court recognized in Menendez v. State, 368 So. 2d 1278 (Fla. 1979), where the trial court has considered in aggravation matters outside the specific aggravating circumstances detailed in Fla. Stat. §921.141(5), it becomes impossible to evaluate the weight given by the trial court to the impermissible factors vis-a-vis the factors properly considered in imposing the death sentence. 368 So.2d at 1282.

Jacob Dougan had not been "previously convicted of another capital felony or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence." Furthermore, Jacob Dougan had not been previously convicted of any felony. Nevertheless, the trial ocurt found this aggravating circumsatnce to exist on the basis of Jacob Dougan's "prior convictions of Contempt of Court" (RT 236-237). This finding was repeated in the trial court's <u>Gardner</u> resentencing order. (RG Vol.I at 146).

The aggravating circumstance set out in 921.141(5)(b) properly applies only "to life-threatening crimes in which the perpetrator comes in direct contact with a human victim." Lewis v. State, 398 So.2d 432, 438 (Fla. 1981).

^{2.} Lewis v. State, supra, involves an improper finding of the \$(5)(b) aggravating circumstance by the same trial judge as in this case, Honorable R. Hudson Olliff.

The power of contempt is given to courts to enforce their lawful orders and punish refusals to obey. Fla. Stat. \$\\$38.23, 900.04. There is no indication under Florida law that contempt is even a crime, much less a "capital felony" or a "felony involving the use of threat of violence to the person."

Also, the trial court expressly stated that there was no evidence that the contempt citation involved any act or threat of violence to a person (RT 236). This hardly rises to the level of proof beyond a reasonable doubt required in the finding of an aggravating circumstance. State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973). No rational trier of fact could have found Fla. Stat. \$921.141 (5) (b) to exist beyond a reasonable doubt.

As with the previous aggravating circumstance, the trial court's use of Appellant's contempt of court citations as an aggravating circumstance under <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §921.141 (5)(b) can only be viewed as the application of an aggravating factor not permitted by the statute. Again, reversible error was committed.

3. Fla. Stat. §921.141(5)(c) is inapplicable to Appellant
The crime for which Jacob Dougan was convicted did not
involve "a great riak of death to many persons". The trial court
found this aggravating circumstance to exist based on two
factors: a) the tape recordings made by Appellant after the
allged commission of the offense which the trial court speculated
endangered one half million persons in Jacksonville, Florida; b)
the trial court made reference to the number of "potential
victims" considered by Appellant prior to the death of the victim

in this case. (RT 237-238). These findings were reiterated in the trial court's <u>Gardner</u> resentencing order. (RG Vol. I 146-147).

"Great risk of death" means not a mere possibility but a likelihood or high probability of death. Kampff v. State, 371 So.2d 1007, 1009 (Fla. 1979). "[A] person may not be condemned for what might have occurred." White v. State, 403 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1981).

The words on the tapes, as inflammatory as they may be, could not create a "high probability" of death to many persons. Even assuming, solely for the sake of argument, that the tapes could be interpreted as a call to others to commit acts of violence³, for these other acts of violence to occur would require the independent action of persons who were complete strangers to the crime for which Appellant was convicted. This could hardly be seen as a "highly probable" occurrence.

The trial court makes reference to the number of "potential victims" considered by Appellant prior to the death of the victim in this case (RT 237). The evidence presented by the State at Appellant's trial indicates that only one victim was sought regardless of the number of "potential victims" considered or attempts to find a victim (T Trial 1361, 1363). The relevant distinction here is between attempted murders and attempts to find what was intended to be a single victim.

^{3.} No speaker on the tapes at any time asks anyone to participate in acts of violence.

Finally, any risk presented did not come within the results gestae of the instant offense. The acts said to create the "great risk" must come within the results gestae of the death for which Appellant has been convicted. Elledge v. State, 346 So.2d 998, 1004 (Fla. 1977); Dobbert v. State, 375 So.2d 1069, 1070 (Fla. 1979).

"It is only conduct surrounding the capital felony for which the defendant is being sentenced which properly may be considered in determining whether the defendant 'knowingly created a great risk of death to many persons.'"

Mines v. State, 390 So.2d 332, 337 (Fla. 1980).

This aggravating circumstance was obviously intended to cover situations where a defendant commits a murder in such a manner as to create a great risk of death to other persons present at the scene. According to the State's evidence, only the victim, Appellant and the co-defendants were present at the scene (T Trial 1380).

^{4.} Dobbert v. State, supra, involveed an erroneous finding of the $\S(5)$ (c) aggravating circumstance by the same trial judge, Honorable R. Hudson Olliff.

4. Fla. Stat. §921.141(5)(d) is inapplicable to Appellant

The trial court found the §(5)(d) aggravating circumstance to exist based on its conclusion that "all of the elements of kidnapping or false imprisonment were certainly present in this case." (RT 239). This finding was reiterated in the trial court's <u>Gardner</u> resentencing order. (RG Vol. I at 148).

Appellant was not charged with kidnapping in this case. At trial, at the charge conference to determine the instructions to be given to the jury at the guilt/innocence phase, counsel for Appellant and his co-defendants argued against the trial court giving the charge on First Degree Felony Murder on the ground that there was no evidence of kidnapping or any other enumerated felony (T Trial 1912-1913). After some discussion, the trial court agreed and determined not to read the felony murder charge (T Trial 1914-1915); there was no objection by the State (T Trial 1916).

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