2/0000

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JACOB JOHN DOUGAN, JR.,

Appellant,

-v-

CASE NO. 65,217

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FILED SID J. WHITE

AUG 16 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT CONTY Chief Deputy Clark
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

# BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General

WALLACE E. ALLBRITTON Assistant Attorney General

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

The Capitol
Tallahassee, FL 32301-8048
(904) 488-0290

# TOPICAL

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

into the weighing process. The fact that the trial judge makes no conclusion in his sentencing order as to the existence vel non of any nonstatutory mitigating circumstance simply means, not that he did not consider the evidence presented by appellant, but only that it did not have sufficient weight to be regarded as a mitigating circumstance. Obviously, the instant case presents no problem under Elledge v. State, 346 So.2d 998 (Fla. 1977). Appellee finds it interesting that appellant while seeking to lay a predicate for a later claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, is compelled to admit on p. 26 of his brief that "some substantial non-statutory mitigating circumstances slipped into the record anyway." In truth, the trial judge did consider everything relating to appellant, even the presentence investigation report. (R 226) Of course, it is not improper for the trial judge to rely on information not available to the jury. White v. Florida, 403 So.2d 331, 339-340 (Fla. 1981); Swan v. State, 322 So.2d 485, 488-489 (Fla. 1975). In sum, the trial judge listened to appellant's counsel and all the evidence presented in his behalf and found nothing sufficient to constitute mitigating evidence. This he had every right to do. Mikenas v. State, supra; Eddings v. Oklahoma, supra; Barclay v. Florida, 77 L.Ed. 1134, 1158 (1983), Stevens, J., concurring.

## ISSUE II

WHETHER ANY NONSTATUTORY AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE WAS IMPROPERLY INTRO-DUCED AT THE PENALTY PHASE OF APPEL-LANT'S TRIAL.

The claim is made that the state introduced before the jury, as an aggravating circumstance, evidence of appellant's alleged involvement in the second homicide. It is the position of appellee that the trial judge properly allowed the prosecutor to read the indictment returned against appellant and others for the Roberts' murder (Post-Tr. Vol. I, 88, 89). In the sentencing hearing, a trial judge may permit any evidence deemed relevant to the nature of the crime and the character of the defendant. § 921.141(1). Appellant's involvement in the Roberts' murder was certainly relevant to his character as well as being necessary to an individualized sentence mandated by Zant v. Stevens, U.S. , 77 L.Ed.2d 235, 251 (1983). The prosecutor was not permitted to go into the details of the killing, only to read the indictment (Post-Tr. Vol. I, 104). Neither was defense counsel, Mr. Jackson, permitted to go into the details of the killing. Following the testimony of Hearn, the prosecutor specifically told the jury that such aggravating circumstances were placed before it "for the sole purpose of aggravating again murderer Jacob John Dougan. That is the reason it was put on." (Post-Tr. Vol. I, 113, lines 1-3) If appellant is heard to complain that the trial judge permitted the reading of the indictment resulting from the Roberts' murder without a limiting instruction, then

appellee answers that no such limiting instruction was requested and the issue cannot now be raised for the first time on appeal. Williams v. State, 247 So. 2d 425, 427 (Fla. 1971); Rule 3.390(d), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. In permitting the prosecutor to read the indictment for the Roberts' murder, the trial judge relied on Sawyer v. State, 313 So.2d 680 (Fla. 1975), <u>cert.denied</u>, 428 U.S. 911, <u>reh</u>. <u>denied</u>, 429 U.S. 873. Tr. Vol. I, 43, line 3--46, line 2). Following the lunch recess, the trial judge again recited his views as to the admissibility of the prosecutor's reading the Roberts' indictment (Post-Tr. Vol. I, 48, line 5--50, line 14). However, at the time the prosecutor requested the court to take judicial notice that appellant was under indictment for murder in the first degree and then read the Roberts' indictment, no objection was made by any defense counsel in the presence of the jury (Post-Tr. Vol. I, 87, line 22--89, line 10). The case of Perry v. State, 395 So.2d 170 (Fla. 1981), became final more than six years after the trial of appellant in 1975. Cf. Meeks v. State, 418 So.2d 987, 989 (Fla. 1982). This is just another reason why this court should judge the instant appeal on the basis of law as it existed when this court decided appellant's initial direct appeal in 1977. For appellant to urge the application of Perry would be comparable to appellee urging that the trial court erred in not finding § (5)(i) as an aggravating circumstance. Also, we point out that the testimony of William Hearn did not constitute a "feature" of

the penalty phase. The testimony elicited on direct examination comprises, at best, 3 pages (Post-Tr.Vol.I, 90-92). The extension of Hearn's testimony was the result of Mr. Jackson's cross-examination, nothing else. And at the conclusion of the penalty phase instructions, appellant's trial counsel made the following objection:

MR. JACKSON: I have an objection. The one that the -- you have already made, the one about -- that Mr. Buttner raised but I'm not so certain as to whether or not the jury should have been instructed relative to the word crime, or due to the fact the State did put in evidence this other indictment. I'm not so sure that the jury was able -- or will be able to recognize that that's not a conviction.

(Post-Tr.Vol.I, 177, line 21--178, line 8) Also, it is worth noting that at the time of appellant's trial in February-March, 1975, Purdy v. State, 343 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1977), had not been decided. Consequently, even if the reading of the Roberts' indictment is viewed as a nonstatutory aggravating circumstance, the trial judge did not err. However, if this is to be viewed as error, then it was antiseptic beyond all reasonable doubt.

Barclay v. Florida, 77 L.Ed.2d 1149; Hargrave v. State, 366 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1978); Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242 (1976) (approval of death penalty based on nonstatutory aggravating factor, i.e., propensity to commit murder).

## ISSUE III

THERE WAS NO ERROR IN THE TRIAL COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY AT THE PENALTY PHASE OF APPELLANT'S TRIAL.

Under this point appellant argues multiple issues, none of which have any merit. It is contended that the trial judge erred because of failure to define "heinous, atrocious or cruel."

Appellant relies on Cooper v. State, 336 So.2d 1133 (Fla. 1976). However, it is obvious that Cooper was decided subsequent to appellant's trial and of course the trial judge did not have the benefit thereof. Even so, the only objection registered by appellant's trial counsel had nothing to do with any alleged failure to define terms (Post-Tr.Vol.I, 177, 178). Consequently, this issue, even if it were meritorious, could not now be raised for the first time on appeal. Vaught v. State, 410 So.2d 147 (Fla. 1982).

But there was no error. Six witnesses were called to testify at the penalty hearing, five by the defense and one by the prosecution, the indictment for the Roberts' murder was read, and the tapes made by appellant and codefendant Barclay were played (Post-Tr.Vol.I, 58-111). This was all of the evidence offered and this was the evidence that the trial judge deemed to have at least some probative value. The trial judge instructed the jury that they should consider only the evidence "the Court deems to have probative value and also the following." (Post-

Tr.Vol.I, p. 170, line 24--171, line 1). The trial judge then went on to read the mitigating and aggravating circumstances listed in the statute. Of course, the jury had already heard the facts surrounding the murder at the guilt-innocence phase of the trial. It is submitted that there is nothing vague about the aggravating circumstance "especially heinous, atrocious or cruel" and the trial judge did not err in not attempting to further describe words of plain meaning, particularly in the absence of a request so to do. In <a href="State v. Dixon">State v. Dixon</a>, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973), this court had occasion to comment on this particular aggravating circumstance as follows:

Again, we feel that the meaning of such terms is a matter of common knowledge, so that an ordinary man would not have to guess at what was intended.

Id. at 9. The court did go on to state its conception as to what those terms meant but did not say or intimate that a trial judge had to do other than read the enumerated mitigating and aggravating circumstances so that the jury could determine an advisory verdict based on the evidence adduced at the penalty phase of the trial. The recent decision of the Eleventh Circuit in Westbrook v. Zant, 701 F.2d 1487 (11th Cir. 1983), rev'd on other grounds, is informative. The court had occasion to treat the identical issue appellant raises sub judice, i.e., failure to define statutory aggravating circumstances. Please note:

Westbrook's first challenge to the instructions--failure to define statutory aggravating circumstances--is unsupportable.

The instructions indicate that the court charged the jury on the application of Ga.Code Ann. § 17-10-30(b). That statutory provision states the aggravating circumstances which may be considered by the jury if supported by the evidence. The court read those statutory aggravating circumstances applicable to the evidence in the case, relied upon by the state in seeking the death penalty, and made known to Westbrook prior to trial. Under the facts in this case, the trial court was required to do no more regarding circumstances than to repeat the exact statutory language. [Emphasis ours.]

Id. at 1501. Westbrook was expressly reaffirmed in Moore v.

Zant, 722 F.2d 640, 647 (11th Cir. 1983). Indeed, in Ford v.

Strickland, 696 F.2d 804 (11th Cir. 1983), en banc, the court in the course of its opinion had occasion to comment on the instructions given by the state trial judge at the penalty phase of the trial. Please note:

Instructing the jury on aggravating circumstances, the trial judge stated, "[y]ou shall consider only the following . . ., and read the statutory language. With regard to mitigating circumstances, he said, "[y]ou shall consider the following . . .," omitting the word "only" and again reading the appropriate statutory language. Ford neither objected to the instruction at trial nor raised it on direct appeal.

Id. at 811, 812. And again, in <u>Alvord v. Wainwright</u>, 725 F.2d 1282 (11th Cir. 1984), the above language was quoted with approval. <u>Id</u>. at 1299.

The sentencing instructions for use at the penalty phase of a capital trial were not adopted until February 4, 1976, almost a year subsequent to appellant's trial. In re Standard

Instructions in Criminal Cases, 327 So.2d 6 (Fla. 1976). instructions adopted May 27, 1970 were prior to Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 (1972), and not relevant to the issue. See also Songer v. Wainwright, F.2d (Case No. 83-3500 Eleventh Circuit, opinion filed 5/18/84), slip op. at 10. Appellee points out that the process of weighing aggravating and mitigating circumstances, if any, is a matter for the judge and jury, and unlike facts, it is not susceptible to proof by either the prosecution or defense. Ford v. Strickland, 676 F.2d 434 (11th Cir. 1982). And as noted supra, there were no capital sentencing instructions to be given at the penalty phase at the time of appellant's trial. Consequently, there was no "reasonable doubt" instruction to be used at the penalty phase. True, State v. Dixon, supra, was on the books at that time. But Dixon does not require the giving of additional instructions; it simply states "they [aggravating circumstances] must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt before being considered by judge or jury." Appellee reads Dixon as holding that evidence of aggravating circumstances submitted by the prosecution must meet the same standard of proof that any other evidence would have to meet, i.e., the evidence must be sufficient to prove the issue for which it was submitted beyond a reasonable doubt. Although a capital trial is a bifurcated one, it is still one trial. In the complete instructions given at the quilt stage of the trial, the trial judge emphasized the reasonable doubt standard twenty-seven

(27) times; in his explanation of the verdict forms it was emphasized three times; and the instructions repeated at the request of the jury, four times. The jury was never instructed as to any other standard of proof.

Appellant's position is untenable because he confuses the procedural with the substantive. Substantively, no defendant may be convicted under the Florida death penalty statute without proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Due process entitles a defendant to nothing more. The aggravating and mitigating circumstances are relevant only as a guide to the jury for the purpose of making an advisory recommendation to the trial judge. But those aggravating and mitigating circumstances do not come into play until after a capital defendant has been convicted and such conviction cannot be obtained without proof beyond a reasonable doubt of the capital crime. This necessarily amounts to proof beyond a reasonable doubt of the underlying aggravating circumstances. It is submitted that the jury's verdict returned against appellant is irrefutable proof that the aggravating circumstances were proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

This precise issue was raised on cross-appeal by petitioner in <a href="Henry v. Wainwright">Henry v. Wainwright</a>, 721 F.2d 990 (5th Cir. Unit B 1983). Please note:

On cross appeal, Henry first contends that the district judge erred in finding harmless the failure of the trial judge to instruct the jury that aggravating

circumstances must be found beyond a reasonable doubt. For the failure to give the instruction to be harmless, the evidence must be so overwhelming that the omission beyond a reasonable doubt did not contribute to the See, e.g., Brooks v. Francis, 716 F.2d 780 at 794 (11th Cir. 1983). The district judge accurately noted that the evidence of the aggravating circumstances (murder while committing robbery, especially heinous and cruel murder, and pecuniary gain) was overwhelming. The jury never heard an instruction during the trial on any standard of proof other than beyond a reasonable doubt. And, in Florida, the judge, not the jury, imposes the final sentence. We conclude that the judge's failure to repeat his charge to the jury on the standard of proof could not have harmed Henry. [Footnote omitted.]

Id. at 995.

If appellant is heard to claim that the trial judge erred in failing to instruct on nonstatutory mitigating circumstances, we answer that no such instruction was requested. As noted in <a href="Henry">Henry</a>, 995, n.5, this is not a case in which the judge refused to give the charge; appellant's counsel never requested any such charge.

Appellant's claim of error under Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978), seems to be based primarily on Washington v. Watkins, 655 F.2d 1346 (5th Cir. 1981). But the thrust of Lockett is that the "sentencer . . . [must] not be precluded from considering, as a mitigating factor, any aspect of a defendant's character or record and any of the circumstances of the offense that the defendant proffers as a basis for a sentence less than death."

438 U.S., at 604. As noted earlier in this brief, appellant does not claim that he was "precluded from submitting any evidence he so desired to the jury as a basis for a sentence less than death." The Eleventh Circuit in Ford, 696 F.2d 804, 811-813 (1983), rejected this issue and distinguished Washington v. Watkins, supra. See also Straight v. Wainwright, 422 So.2d 827, 829-830 (Fla. 1982), rejecting the contention that an instruction which tracked the language of § 921.141 (6), F.S. (1975), fails to apprise the jury of its right and duty to consider any factor in mitigation shown by the evidence. Indeed, this court has several times rejected the contention that Florida's capital felony sentencing law and jury instructions limit consideration to statutory mitigating circumstances. Peek v. State, 395 So.2d 492 (Fla. 1981), cert.denied, 451 U.S. 964; Songer v. State, 365 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1978) (on rehearing), cert.denied, 441 U.S. 956 (1979).

As noted earlier, the only objection raised by appellant's trial counsel had to do with the reading of the Robert's indictment to the jury at the penalty phase (Post-Tr.Vol.I, 177, 178). None of the other issues argued under this point were raised in the lower court and cannot now be raised for the first time on this appeal. <u>Bassett v. State</u>, 449 So.2d 803 (Fla. 1984); <u>Maggard v. State</u>, 399 So.2d 973 (Fla. 1981), <u>cert.denied</u>, 454 U.S. 1059. Incidentally, in Bassett, this court reiterated

its harmless error analysis approved by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Barclay v. Florida</u>, <u>supra</u>. Note the following:

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